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CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION

luch has been written about the history of Texas.
As'a result of the time and effort that many have s&pent in
historieal research, a great number of accurate records of
the colorful history of Texas have been made available to
the public. Anlimpartant part of this history is concerned
with the development and growth of education in Texas.

Texans have always demanded education. The refusal
of the Mexican Government to provide schools for their chile.
dren was listed, in the Texas Declaration of Independence,
as one reason for their revolt. As a result of this attitude
Live Oak County, like the other counties of Texss, has been
and is interested in the improvement of the Texas School

System of which 1t is a part,
I. THE PROBLEM

Statement of the problem, It is the purpose of this
study to trace the development and progress of publiec schools
and their programs in Live Oak County, Texas, from the time
of the earliest schools to the present. The events and
- movements that have influenced the cduecational syestom of
Live 0Oak County have been selected as the vehicles for
earrying through this effort,.
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Importance of the study. No history of education in
Live Oak County has been written., The need for interpreta-
tion and preservation of edugcational records as a part of
the effort to select from the past the desirable things with
which to gulde future actlion has long been recognized by
historians generally and by educational historians in par
ticular, For example, Sutton, of the University of Texas,
says,

Clear understanding of the educational problems

that have already been solved inevitably leads the
normal mind to attack other problems, the solution
of which has not been attemgtcd or, if attempted,
only partially wrought out,

On the basis of statements of this nature a study
such a8 this one 18 Jjustified,

Also, the history of educetion in his own county is
probably the best means of introducing the new teacher to
the full appreciation of the actuﬁi status and conditions
of the school gystem, It will enable him to aid in its
rrogress and, at the same time, will be valuable in build-
ing a professional spirit,., Because of reasons in this
category, the study has value as a motivator and educator

of teaghers.

¢ W, 8, Sutton, introduction to evelopment of
Edusetion i ‘exaa,'Fredﬁriek'Eby-(mew',orkz‘ﬁie ﬁ%@mglfzh
Company, 1925), p. xii.






IXI. DEPIKITIONS OF TERMS USED

School community. In the early days the school com~
munity consisted of several familles living in close proxi-

mity who established a neighborhood school for their chile
dren, The eschool community, as defined here, has been

abolished in Texas.

Public sghool system, The public school system in-

oludes all public elementary and secondary schools,

Common school district. The common school distrioct
was originally a rural sechool under the direction of the

county superintendent, This decignation of districts has
been abolished in Live Oak County.

Congsolidated school distrigt. The consolidated

gchool district consiste of two or more common school dige

tricte which have been consolidated,

Independent school distriet. The independent school
distriet is a common school district incorporated for free

gohool purposes, and is under the contrel of the town or

¢ity school board instead of the county.

" Consolidation., By consolidation is meant any form

of amelgamation of small school districts into & single,

larger, more economical, and efficient school administrative
unit.







. 4
latin-American. LatineAmerican, as used in this study,

refers to anyone of Mexican or Spanish descent,.
III. SOURCES OF THE DATA

Data for this study were obtained from (1) records
and reports of the State Department of Education, (2) re-
cords in the county superintendent's office, (3) interviews
with people possessing first-hand information about educa-
tion in Live Oak County, (%) reporte of the Live Oak Soil
Congervation District, and from such secondary sources ag
books on the history of Texas, more general educational

publications, and néwspaper and periodical articles.
IV. METIODS OF PROCEDURE

All available sources that contained information
concerning the development of education in Live Oak County,
Texas, were read and analyzed. By studying, analyzing,
claseifying, and interpreting all data & continuous plo-
ture of edusational progrees wasg established. A combination
of chronological and topical organization of the data was

used.
¥. REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

Although nothing has been written that is directly
concerned with the hlstory of education in lLive Oak County,

brief mention 18 made of two studies dealing with the
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history of education in Texas which have been uged as backe
ground material for this study.

Ebyz has set forth the development of Texas schools
from the earlieat period of Texas history to 1925, He has
shown the changes in school laws that have affected the de-
velopuent and growth of schools in the state,

In 1935 the Texaes State Board of Ednn#tlon conducted
a survey on the adequacy of Texas sohools.} This curvby

was made with a view to the reorganization of the public

schools of Texae on a more nearly adequate b@lis.
VI. ORGANIZATION OF THE REMAINDER OF THE STUDY

The remainder of this study is divided into four
chapters, Chapter II presents the geographie, historical,
economie, and soclal backgrounds of Live Oak County. The
early educational developments to the phase of consolida-
tion of the schools are discussed in Chapter III, Chapter
IV discueses the educational developments and reorganization
from the phase of consolidation of the echools to the year
1951. Chapter V presents a summary and an analysie of

future issues to be faced by the schools of Live Oak County.

¥ Frederick Eby, The Development of Edueation in
‘Texas (New York: The “aemillan Company, 192%)., =
3

State Board of Eduecation, Report of the Texas
Statewide Adequacy Survey (Austin, Texas: 1937).







CHAPTER IIX

GEOGRAPHIC, HISTORICAL, ECONOMIC, AND SOCIAL
BACKGROUNDS OF LIVE OAK COUNTY

I, GEOGRAPHIC BACKGROUND

The terrain of Live Oak County varies from level to
rolling, and includes an area of 1,072 gquare miles. Lo-
cated on the coastal plain of South Texas, the area is
drained by tne Nueces, Frio, and Atascosa Rivers, It is
bordered by Atascoea and Karnes Countliee on the north, Bee
and San Patrielo Counties on the east, Jim Wellg and Duval
Counties on the south, and Meiullen County on the west, The
altitude 18 150 feet; the annual rainfall is between twenty-

five and twenty-six inches,
II. HISTORICAL BACEGROUND

The land which is now included in Live Oak County
waes originally part of a grant to two Irisghmen, John
HeMullen and Jamee lMeGloin, made by the government of
Coahuila-Texas in 1828, MohMullen and HeGloin wére commer-
cial speculators. As such, they Were gilven a contraect to
gettle two hundred families in South Texas along the coast,
| Byv183i 105 tities h@d‘béénliésﬁed.té ieitlére in.tho b
MeMullen-loGloin ecolony. By 1834 two hundred families had

loceted and Melullen scoured a four-year extension of his
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contract. DBefore the extenalon expired the Texas Revolu-
tion had begun, and the Irish colonists, being in the path
of the invedlng armies, suffered many hardships.

Possessing this background, Live Oak County was
created from Nueces and 8Ssn Patriecio Counties on February 2,
1856. On August 4th of the same year it was organized by
an act of the Leglslature. The county was given its name
becsuse of the live oak treee which grew in the area.

Live Osk County is pecullar because its history is
divided into two sepasrate periods which are distinguished
by the pre-ominenoe‘or different groups of towns. The
firet period was merked by the influence of QOakville,
Lagarto, and Dinero; the second period by George ¥West,
Three Rivers, and Bimmons, The groups of towns are as
different in beginning, growth, and char:cter as though
they had been on separate continents. The history of the
county ¢an best be presented by glving the origin and his-
tory of the towne in each period.

¥hen the county was organized, one of the first
queetlions to be settled was the selection of a county seat.
The people chose an oak grove on Sulphur Creek and the
Nueces River. The place was named Oskville. The town was
‘laid ‘out ground the scuare which contalned the court house
end grounde. Lots were sold for twenty-five dollars each.

A dogzen or more stores, two hotels, & livery steble, two







or more saloona, a school house, and two churches were
cuickly built.

Many of the settlers were people who had stopped
on their way %o Cslifornia during the Gold Rush. Horse
racing was thelr fevorite pastime. From the court house,
Justice seasoned wlth meroy was given., Outside the gourt
house many received nelther Jjustice nor merey. It is sald
that there were more murders committed in Oakville than in
any ordinery town of 1ts size. While Cakville served as
the county eeat, two hundred people dled violent deatha.l

The year 1913 merked the beginning of the downfall
of Oskville; in that year the first rallroad was bullt
through Live Oak County and it missed Oskville. In the
sane year a petltlon requesting an election to move the
county seat to a loceation on the raillroasd was olrculated.
The subsequent election failed to produce a two-thirds
majority fevoring the move, and as & result Qakville re-
tained the center of business of Live Uak County for the
next five years. 1In 1918 the county seat was moved to
George West; Oskville rapidly declined,

A% present there is & state highway through Oakville
from San Antonio to Corpus Christi which offers some busi-
‘ness opportunities to: the town.

The seecond town of importance, Lagarto, ls now &

A News item in the San Antonlo Light, August 4, 1933.
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ghost town, It was founded in 1858 in the extreme southern
part of Live Osk County:. The first settlers were Mexicans
who lived in emell huts covered with grass and with no
floors. Lumber could not be bought any nearer than Corpus
Christi. The first store was built in 1866,

The clitizens of Legerto showed an interest in the
educational development of thelr community. One of the
early teachers of the public schools in Lagarto, finding
1t necessary to suppliement his salary, published the fol-
lowing notice in the Lagarto News, January 5, 1882,

SCHOOL NOTICE

Having been employed to teach Lagarto Free School
for a term of four months beginning Januery 9, 1882,
I hereby glve notice that, sssisted by Miss Adelle
DeBerry, I will also undertake to teach all pupils
over and under the acholastic age for whom the
monthly rate of tultion shall be as follows!

The English branches inecluding erithmetic, two
dollars; algebra, geometry, trigonometry, survey-
ing, each one~half dollar extra; Latin, Greek,
and Spanish, each one dollar extra; piano musiec,
five dollars extra. No reductions.

Frank Howard
About this same time the cltizens of Lagartio de~
clded to make thelr town the educational center of Bouth-
west Texas by establishing a college in Lagarto. The
Lagerto College Company was organized with & capital stock
of five thousand dollare. There were enough shares sold

at ten dollars each for the company to erect a two-story
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building which opened in 1884 and was known as the Lagarfo
College. Severel of the ranch families sent thelr chil-
dren to board in the town that they might attend the four-
teacher college.

The college town pnase was, however, of short dura-
tion, As in the case of Qakville, the raillroad through
the county missed Lagsrto. In 1888, just four years after
the opening of the college, the San Antonilo and Aransas
Pass Rallroad ran a branch line through Live Oak County to
intersect the Texas-Mexican Rallroad which ran from Corpus
Christl to Laredo. Most of the townspeople moved to points
on the rallroad and as a result a one-tezcher school was
ell thet was needed st Lagarto. After eleven years the
college building was sold to & ranchman for a home.

A third town belonging to the first period in Live
Oak County 1s Dinero. The early settlers obtained land
grants from the government of Texas scon after the inde-
pendence was won from Mexico., For many yeers it was known
a8 Barlowe's Ferry, after & man named Barlowe who operated
& ferry on the Nueces River. In 1872 the name was cheanged
to Dinero.

Dinero is a Spanish word meaning money. Just prior
to the time of the chenge of the community's neme, some
Mexicaene came Into this pert of Texzs wlth maps and charts

to locete hildden trezsure. The treassure was supposed to
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have been left by the retreating Mexican Army. There was
mucndigoing for dinero, but the only result was the changing
of the name of the community.

In 1861 at the beginning of the Civil War an army
camp, Fort Merrill, was estsbllished at Barlowe's Ferry.
The eite etill goes by thst name although nothing remeins
except an o0ld rock oven. It 1s, or was, evident that there
vag some activity at the fort; for many yesars lead bullets
were picked up about the plece.

Thie change in name of the community was vindieated.
Of late years Dinero h&s'developed into an o0il field cen-
ter with gas flowing oil wells in and around the vieinity.
When the railroad wes bullt through Live Osk County, it
missed Dinerc by a mile, Consequently, the town moved
from the river tc the rallroad.

A hietorical landmark belonging to this period 1s
Fort Ramirez, or for its proper name, eccording to J. Frenk
Doblie, Rancho del O0Jo de Agua Ramirens.? The walle are
ell torn down now, most of them having been destroyed by
treasure hunters. The fort, in 211 probability, is one
of & line of Bpanish Misslons extending sll the way from
Corpus Christl to S:zn Antonlo., As Dobie aays,

Undoubtedly the snelent lsndmsrk wes the firset
of any permanence to be erected within the confines

" J. Frank Doble, Coronado's Children (Dallas, Texas:
The Southwest Press, 1930), p. 99.
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of what is now Live Oak County, though when 1t was
built no record tells.”

Ag has been indicated, the bullding of the railroad
narked the decline of the old towng and the rise of the new.
Eech of the new towns had a patron responsible for 1t;
Simmons, Dr. Simmons from 8t. Loule; Three Rivers, Charles
Tips; and George West, George Wést.

It was culite natural that the people located their
gettlements close together in the early daye of the county
because of the Indien depredations. 1t was from these
settlements thet the old towns sterted. Becsause the new
towns were established as retail or ehlpping centere taking
sdventage of new media of trensportation and communication,
or to satisfy the whim of some individusl, their locatlions
sre widely separated and different from those of the earlier
period.

Simmons was set up by Dr. Sinmmons as a “blue print®
eity. 1t was divided onpaper first into lots, blocks,
avenues, and parks representing a city. The lots were
sold far and wide to people. Bome of the purchasers came
to the site to see it for what 1t wss, a paper city, too
far from trade centers and markets to support the people
who planned to live in it,

Three Rivers got 1ts neme from 1%ts locatlon at the

junction of three rivers, the Nueces, Frio, and Atescosa.

3

Loc. cit,

e e
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Three Rivers belongs to thé second perlod becesuse of 1lts
rise to power in 1918 end not because of 1ts founding. In’
1918 a first ges well was brought in sbout ten miles west
of the town. A fleld was rapldly developed and in 1922
the ges line which brings gas into the city was completed.
Because of thls cheap fuel supply & glass factory was es-
teblished and later enlarged until 1t became one of the
largest in the south, The works was closed in 1937 when
many of the glase factories were amalgsm:ted into a central
plant loceted =%t Waco,

Today, with & populeation of 2,100 Three Rivers lis
e retall center dependent primarily on farming, ranching,
and oil sctivities,

The influence of the early towns was definitely
ended in 1918 when the county seat was moved to George
West. In thet year, Hr, West offered £75,000 in cash tos-
ward bullding & court house if the county seat were moved
to the town of George West. A subsequeht vote on the pro-
posal resulted in Oskville losing its position as county
seat by a three-to-one ratio.

In azddition to building the court houese, George
West donated cash for the bullding of roades and bridges.

He bullt the echool bullding now used for the elementary
gredes, the West Hotel, and donsted lote on which ell the

churches in town are built,
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The town George West became incorporated in 1946,
During the past five years many improvements such as paved
streets, street drainage, and street lights heve been made.
Many new bulldings hsve been erected and new business con-
cerns opened., Wlth a populetion of 1,500, the town now

serves as a retall and shipping point for the county.
I1I. ECOHNOMIC BACKGROUND

The resources of Live Qzk County are bleck loam,
black wexy, and gray sendy eoils; live oak, mesculte, and
pecan trees; oll; geas; gless sand; and clay.

The lergest pert of the pooulstion live in rural
areas on fsrms and ranches. These vary in slze from ten
to 40,000 sereas. Of thege, 50 ver cent range in asize from
fifty to 260 acres. Most of the unite of one hundred
acres or less are operated in connection with some other
enterprise as & supplement to other income. The farms
end ranches are operseted according to four plane; 34 per
cent ere full owner-operated; 17 per cent are part owner-
opereted; 48 per cent tenant-opersted; and 1 per cent
manager—Operated.u

The main crops are cotton, corn, grain, flex, pea-

nuts, and truck vegetables. About 3,000 sores ere irrigated.

Report of the Live Oszk So0il Conservetlion District,
August, 1946, v. 80,
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the produetion of beef cattle for cclves, feeders,
stockers, and breeding cattle is the msin live stock
entervrise, BSome dairy cattle, poultry, sheep, goats,
hoge, and horses sre rcised,

4L gradually lncreeséd production of oil and gas in
the county hee brought in many workers and thelr families
and has increased the ilncome of the ocounty. However, the
majority of the workere are not permenent resldents be-
ceuse of frecuent tranafers. This presents & housing ase
well ae soeclsl problem in the county. It also presents a
problem to the schools becauses throughout the school year
students are enrclling in and withdrawing from school.

There 1s 2lso a group of even less permanent workers
in the county. They follow the cotton picking and vegetable

gathering. Almoet 2ll cof these workers are Latin-Americans.
IV, BOCIAL BACKGROUND

The average slze of farm and ranch femilles in the
county 1ls between four and five members. The gradual trend
is toward smeller families, especially smong the renchers
and landowners, Farm end ranch laborers, tenants, end
shere crovpers of Mexican descent usually have the largest

families,”

Hezlth snd sanitstlon conditions in the towns are

Ibidn’ p. 94.
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good. In the rural aress these condltions very from satis-
factory to very unsatisfectory, depending on the productivity
of the land, the family income, and the genersel level of
educetion. Renters and laborere on farms asnd renches heve
the lowest level of sanitation. They live in poor houses
wlthout scereens, have insdeguete diets, unsanitary water
supplles, and unsanitery system of dispossl of waste.

Inadequate amounts of fruit and vegefables ere grown
for rural home use. Many ferm families do not heve & milk
cow, hogs, or sufficient poultry for & home supply of meat
and egpe. Decsuse of these facts their diels are defiolent
in vitamins and minerala.7

The Latin-American renters and laborers and the low
income familiea show the least concern about their health
and sanitatlion faclilities, whilcn are relatively poorest.
There is bellef in the county thet they need to be educated
in regard to these things. The school lunch program seems
to bDe & step in the right direction, because the program
not only teaches the children to ezt a bestier diet
but alzo provides the dlet for them., Army life has beeén
credited with doing much for many of the young people by
teaching them about health, diet, and sanitatlon.

In the past few yesrs there has been much loocal

6
7

Ld.g

s ¢

D. 96,
t.

Loc. ol

a4 s e







talk in fevor of a2 county health unit that would meke
evallable medical and dentel cere to gll. HMany of the
civie organizations of both George West and Three Rivers
are trving to develop this sentiment into action.

At least ten different religlous bodles meet in
Live Ogit County. Most of these are represented by two or

nore congregatione,

Both George Wést and Three Rivers have several

active civic organizations such as Jaycees, Lions, Rotary
Club, and Business and Professional Women. These orgenigze-
tions :zre working toward the improvement of sociel and

econonic conditions in their county.







CHAPTER III

THE ESTABLISHMENT AND EARLY DEVELOPHENT
OF SCHOOLS IN LIVE OAK COUNTY

The principle of state provision of free schools for
the educationof all the children living within its borders
is well established. In a free country practically all men
are voters; they must be educated in order to know how to
vote intelligently and to discharge their other duties as
citizens. This was well understood by the founders of Texas
when they stated in their Declaration of Independence,

+ » « 4t 18 an axiom in political science that unless
a people are educated and enlightened, 1t is idle to
expeet the continuange of oivil liberty, or the
capagity for self-government.

The same sentiment was well expressed by Mirabeau B,
Lamar, president of the Texas Republic, whenhe sald,

Cultivated mind is the guardien genius of democracy.

It is the only dictator that freemen agknawlodgu and
the only security that freemen desire.
I. THE FOUNDATION AND ORGANIZATION OF THE

STATE EDUCATION SYSTEM

Education in Texas 18 considered to be a state

Texas Declaration of Independence.
. Eugene C, Barker, Charles 8, Potts, and Charles W.

Ramsdell, A School Hist of Texas (Chicago: Row, Peterson
and Company, I§%2§, P. 30%.







funetion, Although much of the responsibility for the
ment of local schools hag been delegated by statute to
school districts, the state is the controlling factor. To
understand the development of education in the county, it
18 necessary, therefore, to have such information regarding
the state educatiomal system as will direct light on that

development.

Pre-gonstitutional status. ZSducational effort in
Texas began with the founding of the Spanish Missions. Along

with spiritual instruction, the Indians were taught to speak,
read, and write Spanish, They were also taught the arts of

crop-growing and livestock-ralsing., Aslde from these early

mission schools, the first steps toward founding an educa-
tional system is revealed in the Constitution of the HState
of Coahuila~Texas, adopted in 1827, providing for the estab-
lishment of elementary schools and seminaries in the prine
cipal towns of the state. The Congress of Coahulla-Texas
took action under this conétitutional provision in 1829 teo
provide a plan for free insetruction for pupils whose parente
were unable to pay tultion. Again, in 1830 provision was

made specifically for the founding of six primary schools.

Little or nothing was accomplished, however, and at
the conventlion of Texas colonists, which met at San Felipe
in 1832, the lexican Government was petitioned for a grant

of land to be utilized in the ereation of a school fund,
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8t111 nothing was effected and a few private schools served
the educational needs of Texas at the time of the Revolu~
tlon.3

In the Declaration of Independence signed at Washington,
Texas, on March 2, 1836, the people charged the Mexican Gevern-
ment with neglecting eduoatlon;u

In the Constitution drawn up in March, 1836, a month
before the battle of San Jacinto, it was made the duty of
the Congress of the Republic of Texas to provide by law for
a systen of public free schools.5 However, the new govern~
ment was go hard pressged for money and was so teset with
danger and dAifficulties on every side that it was unable
to give nmuch attention to the subject of ednaatlon.6

Beyond these sparse detalls, study of the pre-re-
public daye in Texas reveals nothing of substance in the

history of education,

- Constitutional provisions. 'The Constitutlon of the
Btate, adopted in 1845, provided that the leglslature should
establish a system of free schools, but the sparseness of
the population and the confuslon caused by the Mexican War

resulted in a long delay.

E Texeg Almanac, 1947-1948 (Dallas, Texas: A, H, Belo
Corporation, 1657), pP. 329,

Frederick Eby, The Development of Education in Texas
(New York: The Hacmillan Company, 1925), pp. 9.

5 Constitution of the Texas Republie.
6 Barker, op. git.,; pP. 157.
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In 1870 Texas was, according to the National Bureau
of Education, revorted to be ", . , the darkest field edu-
cationally in the United States.”? The first atep toward
the correctlion of this condition was the enactment of a
school law complying with the demands of the Constitution of
1869, This Constitution was written under the influence of
a group of radical political adventurere, They set theme
selves the task of organizing a free school system for the
first time in the history of Texas.a The new Constitution
provided for a ", , , uniform system of public free aschools
for the gratutious instruection of all the inhabitants be-
tween the ages of six and eighteen.“g A gpecific plan for
financing this inetruction was provided at the same t&uo.lo
A state board of edugation was provided under the
Constitution of 1869 consisting of the superintendent of
public instruction, the governor, and the attorney-general,
This board was empowered to act in place of the legislature
in school affairs. Bitter opposition to the sehool eystem
arose immediately. The most controversial factor was taxe
ation, The people objected to taxing one man to educate

the children of another. Thils taxation was regarded as

7

® 1o, ». 156,

Bby, op. oi%., p. 157,

9 The Texas Constitution of 1869,

2% ewy, op. git., p. 159.
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nothing less than robbery and oonfiscation.ll

In 1876 the constitution was again rewritten. The
Convention became the battleground for two political parties.
At one extreme was the supporters of the School Law as it
then existed, At the other extreme were people who did not
believe in publie edusation in any form. Their slogan was,
"Away with free schools; let every maen edugate his own
ohlld.“lz The controversy resulted in a compromise which
fell short of meeting the real needs of the time.’

The new constitution abolished the office of state
superintendent of public instruction. The free school
age-range was established between eight and fourteen years.
Local taxation for bullding schoolhouses and maintalining
schools by publiec funde was prohibited. The proportion of
the general revenue set apart for the support of schools
was restricted to one-fourth or less of the occupational
and ad yalorem taxes,

Undér the Constisution of 1876, Texas adopted the
school community system. This system was simple and loose
and provided no authority for dividing the counties into
suitable school districts, Instead, the parents and guar-
diane of school age children were permitted to unite and

organize themselves into school communities.

11
1

Ihid., P, 183,
2 14, p. 169,
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Egtablishment of the State Department. The office of

state superintendent of public instruction was created in
1866, The state supsrintendent was elected by the people
for a term of two years.l3 His duties have varied with the
constitutional changes and amendments.

The first board of education was established by pro-
visions of the Constitution of 1869, It consisted of three
menbers, the superintendent of public instruction, the gover-
nor, and the attorney-general, This board was abolished by
the Constitution orf 1876 and was replaced by a state board of
education composed of the governor, the state treasurer, and
the state comptroller, In 1929, however, an amendment to
the State Consgtitution provided for a boapd composed of nine
members, The members were appointed by the governor and cone
firmed by the senate for a term of silx years, The terns
were arranged in such & manner that three of the members
retired on the first day of January biennially.la There
© were many overlapping duties of the state board and of the
gtate superintendent. For example, the state superinten-
dent had the power to purchase and distribute textbooks,
but the state board controlled the funds for purchasing

textbooks. Such confuslion of authority and funection made

13

1h
Btate Board of Edusation, Report %% the Texas
Statewide Adequacy Survey (Austin, Texas: 1937), p. 2.

Texas Almanac¢, op. eit., p. 329,
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it difficult to fix responsibility in educational matters.

Legislation., The writers of the Texas Constitution
believed that democratic government could be safeguarded
only by distributing authority in such & way as to make it
impossible for any officlal to exert undue authority and by
prescribing minute limitations on the agencies of governmont.ls
There have been, consequently, numerous amendments to the con-
stitution. Many changee have been made regarding the publie
schools, especially in the matter of financing them.

The Texas public school permenent fund has been ac-
cumulated from the funde accruing from sale of school lands
and from rents and royalties derived from the land still
owned by the state. When Texas entered the Union it was
allowed to keep ite public lands instead of giving them
to the United Btates government as the other entering statee
had done, lLater, the state gave these lands in large quan-
titles to the public schools. Hany parcels of these lands
have been sold and the money inveeted in interest bearing
bonds which are held by the State Treasurer as & part of
the permanent school fund.16

Another addition to the permanent fund was made in

1854 when Governor Elisha M, Pease persuaded the legislature

1l
3 Texas Almanac, op. eit., p. 51,
6 Barker, op. git., p. 311,
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to set aside for the schools United States bonds worth two
million dollare., Texas had received this sum in partial
payment for her claim to the eastern helf of New Mtxioo.l7

At the present time, Texas has a substantial perme-
nent school fund. In the school year 1949-1950 the receipts
from the permanent fund totaled $3,345,850 }3

By an amendment to the Constitution in 1883, a new
system of revenue sources for schools was established. The
gchool community eystem was abolished and provisionse were
nmade for creating permanent school dlestricta.

In 1908 another amendment to Seetion 3 of Artilecle VII
of the Texas Constitution wae a2dopted. This amendment ine
creased the maximum tax in school dietricts to fifty cents
per hundred dollar valuation,lg In 1920 the 1limit on the
tax rates which communitiee might levy for school purposes

was aboliahed.go

The Rural Aid Law of 1915 provided for assistance to
schools with not fewer than twenty and not more than four

hundred pupils located in districts having not more than

-

7
Ivid., p. 330,

8
0ffice of REdueation, Public Sghool Finance P;ggfggg
of the Forty-Eight States (Pe&erai Security Ageney, Clrcular

Wo. 274, weshington: United States CGovernment Printing
office, 1950), p. 110.

o Rupert N. Richardson, Texas, the Lone Star Btate
(New York: Prentice Hall, Ine., 1983), . 343,

9 Texas Almaneg, loe. eit.
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four hundred pupils located in districts having not more than
five hundred school-age children on the census roll, Aid
wes granted on the basis of a teacher salary schedule de-
termined by the state superintendent, with the approval of
the state board of edusation, for the exclusive purpose of
extending the length of term. If stete and eounty available
funds together with local funds were insufficient to maintain
a term not to exceed nine monthe and approximetely eight
montha in duration, aild was granted.21

Curriculum provisiong. The School Law of 1871 divided
the schools into three classes according to the subjects

taught.zz From the firet, the trend has been to require

English, mathenatics, history, and some science, and them

to permit 2 wide election of units to complete the number
required for graduation, The number of units necessary for
graduation has varied with the different school systems, but
a minimum of fifteen has been required by the Btate, Three
units in Engligh, two in mathematics, two in seience, one

in history, and one in government are now required by the

State Departnent of Education,

Influence of University of Texas. From its estab-

lighment in 1683, the University of Texas exerted a strong

2 State Board of Education, op. git., p. 11,

2% Eby, op. eit., ». 162,
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influence upon the growth of high schools and upon the
composition of the secondary curriculum, Affiliation with
the university set up the only objective standard of excels
lence by which the high se¢hools might Judge their merits,

The influence of the University upon the high sahoold
was decgreaged when the State Department of Educetion took
over the standardization and accrediting of the schools in
1916.23 Moet of thie work is now done by the Southern

Agsoclation of Colleges and Secondary Schools,

Teacher certificetion. There were no state require~
ments for teachers in the early schools; therefore, many of

the teachers were not well prepared for the teaching profes~

slon.zb The law of 1893 provided for the certification of

teaghers, A second-class cgertificate, of elementary or
secondary level, could be obtained by examination in certain
preacribed subjects, Little attention waas given to profese
slonal education. If a teacher had taught a subjeet ten
years, he was excused from obtaining a certificate in that
subject., A first-class certificate, elementary or secondary,
was based on the amount of college preparation the teacher
had, After one year of college work, a person could receive

a certificate good for two years; after two years of work
23
24

Ibid., p. 261.
Ihid, . P 206
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the certificate wae good for four years; and after three
years of work it was good for six years, Upon recelving a
bacghelor's degree, with twenty-four hours in education, a
perscn wag lsegued a permanent certiflcate.zg

The lack of cualified teachers has been one of the
outstanding needs of Texas education from the firet, This
need has been felt more in the rural schools than in the

towns and c1t1e3.26

Gilmer~-Alken Committes proposals. In July, 1947, a
Joint committee of the House and Senate of the Texas Legise

lature, known as the Gilmer-Aiken Commlttee, was appointed
to study the educational conditions in Texas and to make
recommendations for improving the conditions, After eigﬁn
teen months of study they made certain proposals that were
adopted by the Regular fSession of the 50th Legislature,
One provoeal was for a Central Education Agency.
This agency is conposed of the State Boarda of mduoatian,
the BState Commissioner of Edusation, and the State Department
of ®dueation., The board consiste of nine members elected
by the people. The state is divided into nine districts;
each district elects one member to the board, The Btate

Board eppoints the Commissioner of Education, The State

25

8tate Department of Edueation, Public School Laws
y Do .

of Texas, Vol, IX, No. 6 (Auetin, Texas)
26

by, op . ¢it., p. 308,
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Department is made up of the professional, techmical, and
clerical staff of the Central Education Agency.

Another proposal was for a minimum Foundation Pro-
gram of education to be provided for all schools. Part of
the finance of the Foundation Program must be provided by
the district. The amount that the district provides is de-
termined by the Central Agency based on the financial ability
of the district. The remaining funds negessary for the
Foundation program are provided from State and Federal sube-
sidies. Tvery district has the right to raise funds over
and beyond the minimum progrdm.

Proposals were made and adopted for teacher quall-
fication and teachers! galaries, RElementary teachers must
have at least twelve hours of elementary edugation and high
gehool teachers must have twelve houre of secondary educa-
tion., Teachers are peid by e salery echedule providing a
minirum for additional experience in teaching, For a teacher

who holds a baghelor's degree the minimum salary is $267 per

month for nine months with six dollars per month added for

each year of tesching experience not to exceed seventy-two
dollars per month, For & teagher who holde & master's

degree the base pay in $292 per month for nine months with
six dollare per month added for each year of teaching ex-
perience not to exceed $156 per month, The number of teachers
a dlstrict may employ is baged on the average dally atten

dance of the pupils, the index being one classroom teacher
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for each twenty-five pupils. In addition to classroom
teachers provisione are made for vocational teachers,
gpeciel service teachers, supervisors, and principal¢.27

The Minimum Foundation Program is 8till short of
the quality desirable, but it epproaches adequacy. At the
gsame time, the program is one which can be financed. The
new organization for state management of eduoanion in Texas
harmonizes with the thinking of well«known educators of %0~
day and compares favorably with other state departments of
gducation,

Thug it can be seen that, as time has passged, educa-
tion has been a constantly recurring concern of the people,
passing through phases of Spanish control, lexlcan sover-
eignty, an independent republic, and etatehood. Most of the
developments since 1876 have had direct implications for
the development of public schools in Live Oak County, as

will now be shown.
IT. FOUNDING AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE COUNTY SYSTEM

The development of the schools in Live Oak County
has been a slow process, One reason for this has been 1ite
close relation with the slow and unsteady progress of
public education in Texas. The early history of Texas,
as shown in the firet part of this chapter, was marked by

27

¥inal Report of Gilmer~Aiken Committee (Senate
Journal Supplement, Austin, Texas, 1949), pp. 3=34,
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& series of changes and amendmente to the gchool law, Hany
of the laws were contradictory; meny of them were vague in
their application.

Another reason for the slow development of the schools
has been the physical conditione of the county. Live Oak
County consists mainly of rural communities separated by
large, sparsely settled ranching areas, In the early days
of the county, roads were lnsufficient in both quantity and
quality, and transportation was comparatively primitive,

Ag & result many inefficlent one-teacher schools were es-

tablished.

Early schools. The records of the county yield lite
tle information concerning the early schools. In 1857 the
County Commissioner's Court ordered a commlttee of three
men to contact ", . . a suitable person , ., ." to define
the school lands to which the county was entitled,

The first school of which there 1s any record was
held in lLagarto in 1871.29 The school ovened September 1,
1871, under the direction of Robert S, MeCann, 1t was opere

ated on a six-~day week basis for approximately six and one-

half months, but mueh of the time aschool was not in seaslon,

28 County Commissioner's Court iinutes, Live Cak
County, Texae, VolL, I, p. 70.

29 ®Prom notes in longhand by Robert 5, MeCann in his
Teagher's Dailv Register to be found in the Live Oak County
Buperintendent s office in Record No. 1.
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OQut of the 163 school days of the term, only seventy-five

deys hed been teught &t the close of the echool on March 12,
1872. ‘

Abegences were estimated not only by the days of
gschool & pupll missed, but by the hours out of the elght-
hour school day missed, Any tardiness was‘uhargod to the
pupil in minutes.

The firaet day of school Mr, McCann enrolled forty
pupils and in December two more puplls entered, meking 1t
a forty-two pupil school. The oldest pupll wase twenty years
0old; the youngest was six. There were twenty-two boys and
twenty girls enrolled.

Mr. McCenn's curriculum consisted of epelling, read-
ing, writing, mental arithmetic, high arithmetic, and high

geography. The textbooks used for these subjectas were!

Readers and Bpellers

Watson's Independent First Reader
] "

dgcond
" ¥ Third »
" " Fourth "
# y Fareh ¢

Elementary Speller
Geographlies
Montelith's First Lessons in Geography
Monteith's Manual of Geography
leNally's Complete Geography
Cornell's Physical CGeography
Matherxstics

Quackenhos' Primary Aritnmetie
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Quackanhoa' Hental Arithmetile
Practical "
Perkinn' Elementary Algebra
Geometry
" Plane Trigonometry
Compogition and Rhetorig

Quackenhos! Firset Lesson in Composition
Quackenhos! Rhetoric

Grammars

Clark's First Lesson in Grammar
Clark's Normel Grammar

Penmanship
Payson's Copybook
Denton's "
Scribner's *
The next schools for which there are records were
the community schools established under the law of 1876.%°
With the adoption of this system of schools the parents
submitted to the county judge, who was ex offielo county
superintendent, a 1list of children whom they wished to send
to school. This officer was required to appoint three true-
tees to act for the term in which the school was to be in
operation. This entire process had to be repeated yearly.
The "community" had no boundaries and no means of controlling
property. There was no designated location for the school;
its slte was determined anew each year, As a result of the
latter provision, no permanent buildings could be construc~

ted.

20 Supra, p. 25.
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The first year the county Judge received petitions
to establish five schools. The schools met at Oakville,
Pugh's, Gussetville, Lagarto, and Pleasant Hill, In 1877
petitions were received from these same communitles and from
Echo, Lagarto Union, Gamble Gulley, lcCampbells, and Walter's
School House. In 1879 the original five schools and schools
at Echo, McCampbells, and Lebenon were in session. In 1880
Barlowe's and Lapara were added as operating community

schools.31

Distr g. With the adoption of the district system
in 1883, the State shifted the responeiblility for educational
progress to the oounty.32 This law placed schools under the
immediate supervision of the county Jjudge, He had the power
to create and organize dlgtricts. Most of the school com-
munities already established became school dlstricts under
the law. Table I showe the number of districte and the
total enrollments in Live Oak County for a period of thir-
teen years between the school year 1884-1885 and that of 1896«
1897.

At one time there were thirty-five common school dig-
tricts in Live Oak County. BSome of them were combined to

form consolidated districtse; some became independent distriots.

31 Records of the County Judge, Live Oak County, Texas.

32 Supra, p. 28.
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TABLE I

NUMBER OF DISTRICTS AND TOTAL ENROLLMENT
IN LIVE OAK COUNTY FOR
188485 to 1896-97*

o-resa

Year No. of Enrollment

188687 9 bés
1887-88 10 472
1888-89 10 463
1889-90 10 Lé2
1890--91 10 522
1891-92 10 603
1892~9i 10 638
1893-9 10 55
1894-95 10 22
1895-96 10 632
1896-97 10 70
— — v o coninis s o4

#Recorde of County Judge, Live Oak County, Texas







at
The majority of schools were housed in two-room frame build-

ings. Few of them offered more than elementary work. HMany
of the puplls after completing such elementary work did
not have the opportunity to attend a high school in one of
the other districts.

Some of the districts existed for a short time only
and were then abolished or becanme incorporated in other
districte, In 1897 the existing districts were Pleasant
Hill, Oakville, MeMurray, Lebenon, Cussetville, Jarratt,
Lagarto, Ramerina, Lyne, and Guildea Hollow. Two schools
were maintained in the Qakville and Ramerina dlstricts;
three met in the Lebenon district. In 1899 Oakville be-~
came an independent distriect. Thie was the first inde-
pendent school distriet in Live Oak County

Table Il gives the name, type, and date of establishe
ment of the school digtrictes of Live Oak County. Figure 2
showe the location of the school distriects of Live Oak
County as they existed in 1940,

The story of a typicel school. The Clegg school was

typleal of the country schools in Live Oak County. COlegg,
a farm community located in the southwestern part of the
county, had a general store, & cotton gin, and a Baptist
Chureh. The first school was held in 1915. This was a
one-teacher school offering seven grades. For the first

year twenty-six pupils enreolled.







TABLE II

SCHOOL DISTRICTS OF LIVE OAX COUNTY

C o po s

Type of No. of Year
BARS 97 TASNISES Distriot District  Created

1883
1889
1883
1883
1897
1883
1887
18863
1900
1900

Pleasant Hill Common
oakville® Indevnendent
Lebenon Common
Gugeetville Common
Jarratt Common
Lagarto Common
Ramerina Common
Guilde% Hollow Common
lLapara Common
Dlnero°d Common
Bimmons Independent 1925
Votaw Common 1911
Marbach Common 1911
Gamble gulley Common 1912
Oakwood Consolidated 1925

=
WEFOFOO~OR F-

Hyman ' Common 1913
Mote ¢ Common 191

Whitsett Common 191

Mahala Common 1914
Kittie Common 1914
8alt Creek Common 1914
Central Common 1914
Spring Creek Common 1914

4 mefore 1889 Oakville was Common School District No. 2.

Lapara replaced Lebenon District Ne., 4,
Dinero replaced Gulldea Hollow District No. 10.

Simmone Common School District No. 2 wag created in
Oakwood Common School District No. 12 was created in

Whitsett replaced Pleasant Hill District No. 1.
Hahala replaced Gamble Gulley District No, 11.
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TABLE II (Continued)

SCHOOL DIBTRICTS OF LIVE OAX COUNTY

No. of  Year
District Created

Type of '
District

Name of District

- A 5 A .0 LA P R 11t L TR A" A b TP APl 155 T4 0 O VO a3 A A o A -

Leopard Common 21 1914

Three Rivers Independent 2 1914
Clegg h Common lg 191
George West™ - Indeprendent ] 191
Cornelia Common 22 1915
Lyne Common 2 1915
Mapes Common 2 1915
Lewis Common 25 1915
Fant City Common 26 1915
Mikeska , Common 27 1915
Cardwell Congolidated 1 1920
Toms Common 28 1916
North Common 29 1916
Atasgcosa Common 19 1917
Argental Comnmon 30 1917
Goodwin Common 31 1923
Mountain View Common 32 192
Ray Point Common 3 19

Belle Kidd Common 3 1924
Qakridge Common 35 1924
Nell Independent 8 1925
BoothJ Common 22 192

h

Geor e West Common School District Wo. 19 was
created in 1915,

A Cardwell District was formed from Clegg and Mote
districts.

Booth replaced Cornelia distriet.
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In 1920 Clegg consolidated with Hote to form the
Cardwell District. The school still met at Clegg. The
enrcllment was increased to forty, and ten grades were
offered, The enrollment at Clegg gradually increased as
more people settled in this district. By 1926 there were
102 students enrolled. The enrolliment remained approxi-
mately the same until 1942 at which time the high school
gtudents were transferred to George West. During this perioed
from 1926 to 1942 the school followed the same routine; 1ite
tle change was nade,

With the increase in enrollment in 1926, four tea-
chers were hired and eleven grades were offered., The
first and second grades were taught by one teacher; the
third, fourth, and fifth grades by another; and the sixth,
geventh, and elghth by a third. The principal taught the
ninth, tenth, and eleventh grades, The curriculum nmet the
gtate requirenents for state aid, but the school was not
affiliated with the Southern Assoclation, After graduat-

ing from Clegs, some of the students attended high school

in George West., They were able to complete the work there

in two yeaers.

The enrollment was low and the attendance poor
during the first six weeks of school, Many of the stu-
dents were kent out of school to pieck cotton, By the
middle of Ogtober most of the cotton pleking was over and
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the enrollment and attendance improved.

The big events of the school year were the Chrigtmas
program, County HMeet, and the program at the olese of school.
The Christmas program, held at night, was & community affalr,
The progran congisted of carole and readings by the pupils.
Usually a one-act play or a pageant was presented. Weeks
of preparation by the teachers and pupils were spent on
the program, Every child had an opportunity to participate.
The main attraction of the evening was the Christmas tree,
The pupils dressed the tree with decoratione they had made
in class.

Ppeparation for County leet made up the largest part
of the student activity program. The County Meet, sponsored
by the Interscholastic League, was held in March at one of
the schools in the county. Clegg participated in both
athletic and literary events. Both boys and girle entered
in softball, volley ball, and tennis, The literary events
entered were declamation, story telling, epelling, arith-
metic, pilcture memory, and essay writing. Clegg won 1te
share of trophies and blue ribbons.

The closing program wae dual in ite purpose, I%
was a commencement exercise for those who were graduating
and 1t wae an open house Tor the parents exhibiting art
werk, notebooks, and projects of the students.

Few of the teachers at Olegg held a college degree,
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but most of them had some college training. In 1938 the
average salary of the teachers was eighty-five dollars per
month, This was elightly above average for the eaunty.33
For this meager salary the teachers were expected not only
to teach clasgses but to also act as janitors. The build-
ing had to be opened in the morning, fires built, wood cut
and carried in, floors swept, and trash burned. The tea-
chere were responsible for these things. They could do
them, or they could have the students do them, In addition
to this, the people of the community expected the teachers
to take part in church work and to participate in community
affairs.

In 1942, due to the shortage of teachers, only three
teachers were employed by the Clegg school, The high school
gtudents were transferred to George West. From 1945 until
the school was congolidated only two teachers were employed.

the conditions presented here were typicel of the
country schools throughout the county. The enrollment,
the number of teachers, and the number of grades offered
may have varied, but the school program was eseentially

the same as that of Clegg.

Enrollment. The enrollment in the schools of Live
cak County gradually increased from 340 students in 18864-85

3 Infra, p. 56.
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to 2,058 in 1950-51. In 1934 in Live Oak County there
were 3,081 children between the ages of six and seventeen,
Only 2,415, or 78 per cent, of these were in school. In
1950, 86 per cent of all the eschool age children in the
county were in schools, Although this has beén a gmall
increase and 1s still helow the state average, it 1ls a
step toward improvement, Table III shows the enrollment
of Live Oak County, by districts, for 1897-98 to 1899~

% 1900 anéd at five year intervals to 1940,

Qfficers. In 1887 the office of county superinten=
dent was created by law. Whether the office should be
established and continued in & gounty waes left to the
decision of the County Commissioner's Court. Few coune
ties adopted this officer in place of the county Judge as
gupervisor of the schools, In 1907 the law was changed,

A county superintendent was then regquired in every county
with two thousand or more school-age chlldren.gb In 1927

. L., Brice was appointed county superintendent by the
Commissioner's Court,

In 1917 lLive Oak County elected & county school
board. The first meeting of the new board was held March 10,
1917 in the court house at Cakville. The board was composed
of W, A H1ll, president, H, K, Martin, V. é. Armstrong, and

2%
3 Eby, ep. git., pp. 201-02,
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W, W, Caves, secretary and ex officio county superinten-
&ent.35

Clessification, One duty of the Live Oak County
School Board was to clagslfy the schools in the county.
Previous to this no clasgification had been attempted., The
schools were classified as either elementary or first, second,
or third-class high schools. A first-class high school of=
fered four years of work above the seventh grade level, a
second-clags three years above the seventh grade, and a
third-clags two yaars.36

Table IV shows the classification of the districts
of Live Oak County, according to the number of grades taught,
for a period from 191718 to 1919-20 and at five-year inter-
vals thereafter to 1940, Thére was no clagsificatlon of the
schools prior to 1917.

finance. The School Law of 1883 shifted the respon-
gibllity for educational progress to the county.37 This
anendment to the Law gave the local districts the right
to levy an gd valorem tax up to twenty cents on the hundred
dollar vzluation. A two-thirds majority vote of the property

owners in favor of the tax was necessary. With authority

35 Minutes of the Live Oak County School Bozrd, Book 1.

6 Ibid., (pages not numbered).

77 Supra, p. 28.
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TABLE IV

CLASSIFICATION OF SCHOOLS IN LIVE OAK COUNTY, TEXAS®
FOR 1917-1918 TO 1919~1920 AND FOR FIVE-YEAR
INTERVALS TO 1940

o g No. of 1017 1016 1910 1924 1929 1934 1039
distriet 1918 1919 1920 1925 1930 1935 19

George West ¥ 3 h % & ) 1 SR % Sl © B4 Rh ¢ Nikia b G | ¢
Three Rivers I 2 p & VRS- & WU b SRR | SR RN MRS ¢
Oakville B 1 11 11 11 10 10 10 10
Simmons L 10 A0 30 B R G
Hell I 5 4 7 8 8
Cardwell 80. 3 10 .38 9 30 8
Oekwood 0c. 2 7 7 7 7 7
Vhitsett O 3 10 X0 30RO e 8
Votew 8, 3 16 10 8 8 8 8
Lapara c. & 10 10 7 QRENEL | 7 7
Gussetville 5 10 I8 29 8 7
Jarratt 6 10 10 7 7 7 8 8
Legarto 7 16 30 10 28 3% 8 7
Dinero 9 10 106 . 310 9 9 g 7
Harbach 10 10 3% XY 7 4 7 7
Hahsla & 4 10 10 10 7 7 7 8
g RSN A 6 " ARG, e | R ;s ol A Tha
Spring Creek 20 7 7 3 9 8
Boothe 22 8 7
Lyne 23 7 7
lepes 2k 9 9 9 10 7
Lewis 25 7 7 7 7 7 7 T
Fant City 26 7 i 7 7 8 9
Mikesksa 27 10 ok 10 10 7 7 7
Toma 28 7 7 7 7 , S 8
North 29 7 7 7 7 7 8 8
Argenta 30 3030 A9 A28 8 8 6
Goodwin 31 10 10 7 7 i § 7 7
Mountain View 32 7 7 8 8
Ray Point 33 8 8
Belle Kidd 34 T 7
Oaxrldge 35 7 7 7 6

Minutes of the County School Board Book 1.
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to tax locally, the rural districts were expected to show

great progress in education. The majority of the ﬁeeple
of Live Oak County were country people. Heny of them did ‘
not own the land they were farming. They could not vote a
tax for school purposes even if they had wanted it. Few
of them were interested in better aschools for their chil-
dren. This csn be seen by reflectlon in the county per
caplte apportionments. The people were willing to let

the state support the schools, but the state did not give
adeguate support. Table V shows the annusl per cavita
apporticnments for the state and count& by five-year inter-
vals from 1899-1900 to 1949-1950.

Teachers. In April, 1858, the Live Oak County Come
miseioner's Court creasted a Board of Exsminers to certify
teachers. No teacher in the county was pald from public
‘funie prior %o this.J> ' Thére is no récord of the Board

of Examiners until 1874 when one certificate was ranovbd.39

40
In 1877 only one teacher was issued & certificate. In

1889 nine teschers taught in the county without certifi-

cates%l

38
87.

39 County Superintendent ex officlo Record No. 2,
102,
" County Superintendent ex officio Record No. 3,

X
County Superintendent ex officio Hegord No. 7,

Commissioner's Court Hinutes, Vol., I, op. git.,

46. 41

104,







TABLE V
ANNUAL PER CAPITA APPORTIONMENTS FOR STATE AND
COUNTY FOR FIVE YEAR PERIODS FROM
1899-1900 to 1949-1950

Years Btate County
per caplta per cepita

R
1899-1900 ¥ 4.25 $ 2.50
1904-1905 5.00 1.50
1909-1910 6.28 1.00
1914-1915 6,65 27
19191920 7450 1.00
1924-1925 - 215,00 «75
1929-1930 17.50 «50
1934-1935 16,50 .63
1939-1940 22,00 22.00
1944-1945 27,00 25.00
19491950 54,00 55.00

E= = e e S
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The first certificete from a state normal school
was reglstered in the county in 1888. In 1891 four tea-
chers in the county had diplomas from normal schools and
one had grzduzted from college.42 At the beginning of the
new century the majority of the tezchers in the county had
some formal preparation; the women outnumbered the men
three to one.43 In 1892 provision was made for the first
time for the lssuance of State certirieates.“u

The first teachers in the county were pald by tul-
tion fees. The fee was seven and one-half cents per day
per pupill. The county guaranteed payment of this tuitidn
for ", . . orphans of widows. . . .'h5 ;
In Live Oszk County, for the year 1877-1878, the

average salary of teachers was twenty dollars per month.

By 1940 the average selary wes 8tlll less than ninety dol-

lers per month., Table VI shows the average salaries of

Live Qak County teachers for twenty-year intervals from
1877-1878 to 1937-1938, and for 1950-51.
On August 7, 1929, the Live Oak County School Board

asked the bank not to cash vouchers out of the 1929-30 school

b2 County Superintendent ex officlo Record, No. 8,
3+ SO & © ¢

43 County Superintendent ex officio Record, No. 10,
Lly

Supra, p. 31.

4% Commissioner's Court Minutes, Vel. I, op. git.,







TABLE VI

AVERAGE MONTHLY SALARIES OF

LIVE OAK COUNTY TEACHERS

Tear Average salary
1877-1878 5 20.00
1897-1898 35:21
1917-1918 53
1937-1938 81,50
19501951 297.00

52
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fund.l+6 For the next several years the county did not

have funds to psy the teachers. They were pald with.
vouchers that would be redeemable at a later date. The
majority of the teachers, not being financlally able to
hold their vouchers until they could collect full value,
cashed them at a discount, In eome ceses the discount was
as high as 33 1/3 per cens,
By 1940 the condition of the school system in Live

Osk County demanded improvement. There were 2,479 students
enrolled in the thirty-two schools in the county. In that
year the twelve-grade system became statewido.u7 In Live
Osk County two schools offered twelve grades, one offered
eleven grades, three offered ten grades, and two offered
nine. The other twenty-four schools were of elementary
level, with eleven offering only six grades, Many of the

schools met for seven months only. The pupll-teacher load
| Qaé iob‘gfeét'lﬁ(mény of'tﬁé échoblé{ in‘ofh;£s(1§ ﬁag(eins
tremely light. There was & general lack of eculpment.

Telk of reorganization began to spresd over the county.

Minutes of Live Osk County School Board, Book 1.

N Richardson, op. git., p. 520,







OHAPTER IV
REORGANIZATION OF THE ESCHOOLS

Many reasons explain the development of the numerous
small schools in Live QOak County. The widely separated
rurel communities were serviced by poor roads end primitive
methods of transportation. As new communities were settled
there was & demand for new schools. When the dlstricts
imposed school taxes there was a tendency on the part of
some property owners to separate thelr property from the
district by having the property orgenized into a new school
district. The result wae thaet by 1940 there were thirty-
two school districts in the county, Eight of the districts
meintalned one-teescher schoolg; fourteen distriots had two-
teacher schools.

.The opportunity of sttending a well-orgsnized high
school was beyond the reach of most of the children of Live
Oek County. The high echool was an institution that the
common school distriet could not maintain standing slone.
There were many ambitious country children who had no means
of transportation to the town high school. Thelr perents
could not afford to let them board in town to attend school.

Because of their smsll and uneconomicel size, in-
adecuate resources, and low standerds, the elementary schools
likewise falled %o provide the children of the county the

opportunities and experiences that the town schools offered.
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One solution to the problem lay in the reorganiza-
tion of the existing schools in the county. By decreasing
the number of schools in the county and increasing their
efficiency and effectivenesgs, every boy and girl would be
given the opportunity of a high school education as well

as a more satisfactory elementary preparation for 1%t.
I. CONBOLIDATION

The first consolidation for the definite purpose
of securing for the children better educatlonal op-
portunities appears to have occured in Montague,
Hassachusetts. . . in 1875. The second was probably
established in Concord, Massachusetts in 1879. A
centrel bullding wae constructed to replace several
one-teacher schools. DBefore the consollidation was ef-
fected there had_been twelve teachers in the eleven
school buildings.t
About seventy years after this first consolidation,
the people of Live Oak County began to conslder the re-
,organizatlion of, the schoels in the county.. The program of .
consolidetion was bitterly ovposed by some of the peoplé.
Some parente objected to sending their children long dis-
tances to school. However, the main opposition was egainst
incressed texation for support of these more costly schools.
The tex rates of the independent dlstricts were greater

than in the common districts.

» &. C. Monahan, nggo;%dat;gn of R Behoole and
Trangsportation of Pupils g% ublic Expense (Bureau of Educa~

T e

tion, Bulletin No. 30, 191%. WVashington, D.C.¢ Bureau of
Eduestion, 1915), ». 8.
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According to the Public School Lsws of Texas,

upon the petition of twenty citizens to consolidate one
district with enother the County Judge must issue an order
for an electlion. If votes cast in each and all districts
show a majority in each district in favor of consolidation,
the court 1s to declare the dlstricts consolldated.?

On July 17, 1943, an election was held to annex
the Marbach, Mahala, Lepara, Belle Kidd, Votaw, and QOake
ville school districts to the CGeorge West Independent
School District No. 3. The annexation passed but, upon
recelving & petition from the citizens of Oakville, the
District Court issued an order on July 16, 1943, restrain-
ing the annexation. The order was extended on July 23,
and agaln on August 2, On August 10 the issue of annexa-
tion was tried by the Distriet Court in George West. No
reason was found for further obstructlon of the annexa- .
tion, Only high school: students were brought into George
West from Oskville. The elementary school was retalned
there until 1950,

On September 10, 1943, an electlion was held to an-
nex Toms, Mountain View, Mapes, Ray Point, Pant City, and
Oekwood to the Three Rivers Independent School District

No. 2. The majority of the people voted in favor of the

3 Public School Lgwe of the State of Texas, 1933
(State Department of Edueation, Bulletin, No. 321, 1933, Vol,.
IX, No. 6. Austin, Texas: State Department of Education,

1933), p. 64.
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annexation. Mountain View and Mapes districts maintained
an elementary school until 1945,

Another election was held in the county on Septem-
ber 10, 1943, to annex Spring Creek, Lyne, Oskridge, Lewis,
Mikeska, and Gussetville districts to the George West dis-
trict.

On October 14, 1943, Whitsett, North, and Nell dis-
tricts were annexed to Three Rivers. HNell and North did
not consolidate the elementary grades until 1945. BSimmons
Independent School District No. 4 was consolidsted with
Three Rivers on November 19, 1943.

An election was held October 18, 1947, following
which Hyman, Goodwin, and Cardwell districts were annexed
to George West. In April, 1947, Jerratt district was an-
nexed to George West.

In March, 1947, Argenta and Booth districts were
oonaolidétéd’wiﬁh’Méthis‘IAdipéndent School District in
San Patricio County.

Lagarto and Dinero districts were annexed %o
George West in July, 1949. On June 26, 1950, the Cadiz
County Line District, which had been in the Beeville In-
dependent School District in Bee County, was declared con-
solidated with the George West Dlstrlct.3

With these annexations to the George West and Three

3 Minutes of the Live Oak County School Board,
Books 1 and 2,
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Rivers districts, Live Osk County was divided into two
distriets in place of thirty-two. Two districte, Argenta
end Booth, are in the Mathis district in San Patricio
County. One district, Calliham County Line, is in the
Calliham district in HeMullen County. Figure 3 showas

the school districts of Live Osk County after consolidation.

Transportation. The sg¢hool districts in Live Oak

County are now faced with the problem of transportation.
Ezch of the two distrlcts contains approximately five
hundred scuare miles of territory. Some of the students
heve to come twenty-five miles or more to'acheol. Trans-
portetion is furnished to all students living more than

two miles from school. At first some of the districts

that had been annexed ran thelr own buses, but now the

two schools, George West and Three Rivers, own all the

buses operated., For the year 1950-51 George West ran eleven

buses and Three Rivers ran nine.
I1I. OUTCOMES OF REORGANIZATION

Through consolidation and reorgenization the schools
gsecured better bulldings and ecuipment thaen was possible in
the communities that mainteined one-teacher sgchools. Faclil.
ities or opportunities for libraries, a wider range of
subject matter, commercial subjects, science, vocational

subjecte and participation in student sctivities became







T
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possible with consolidation; their provision was part of

other phases of the reorganization movement.

Student activities. Consolidation made it podsiblo

for the students to participste in many activities that
did not exist in the smeller districts. Although athle-
tics were limited in the common districts due to lack of
faclilities and ecuipment, the student in the consolidated
gchool has a cholce of many athletics. The boys may
choose between football, basketball, baseball, track, or
tennis, or they may particlipate in several of them. The
girle have basketball, volley ball, softball, and tennis.
These activities sre offered to Junlor high students as
well as high school students. Both schools hed new
gymnasiums for the yesr 1950~51. This was the first year
that physlcsl education was & regular part of the curricu.
lum. Athletics play an important part in the lives of
the boys and girls in Live Osk County today. Many boys
have completed high school because of athletice who other-
wise would have cuit at the elementary level.

Besides athletics, the high school student may
take part in the band or pep squad. If they are interested
they may work on the paper staff or annual staff. The
Future Farmers of Americe and the Future Homemakers of
Amerleca are the two largest organizations in the high

schools. 1In the lower grades the students may also -
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participate in the band, There is an organization of the
h+H Club and of the Junior Red Cross. In the primary grades
there 18 more and better playground equipment, These acti-
vities offer educational outcomes to the student that were

denied in the smaller schools.

Vopational subjects. Commercial subjects have been
taught in the George West and Three Rivers High Schools

since 1935. Both schoole offer gourses in typewriting,
shorthand, and bookkeeping. In 1940 voecational agricule
ture and home economics were added to the curriculum of both
schoole. Thig is under the Smith-Hughes Law passed in 1917.
Under this law both State and Federal aid is given to the
school for vocational work. Each of the schoole in the
county has a separate Agriculture Bullding and Home Ecos
nomics Cottage, Three courses of each are offered, with a
unit of shop work included in the third year of agricul-
ture, Since 1949 the George West school has had its own
farm where the boys experiment with raising and breeding
cattle, poultry, and hogs.

Since most of the students in Live 0ak County are
from rural communities and relatively few of them attend
college, the vocational work probably benefits them more

than any other part of the high school curriculum,

Lunch room. In 1943 the school lunch program was
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introduced in Live Oak County. lLunch rooms were installed
in four schools; George West, Three Rivers, Cardwell, and
Oakville. This program was under the direction of the State
Department of Edugation., Federal asgistance was given, under
Public Law 320, by means of agricultural products and cash
allotmants.b

In 1946 the Hational School Lunch Program was approved
by Congress. This program was to help ", ., . safeguard
health and well-~being of the nation's children and to ene
courage the domestic consumption of nutrious agricultural
commodities."”

Federal assigtance for school lunches constitutes
the largest amount of Federal ald being allogated for any
feature of the educational program in the elementary and
segondary schools,

The school lunch program is operated on & non-profit
basis., Meals are served at reduced cost or without cost to
all children who are unable to pay the full cost of the
lunch, All funds accruling from the operation of the pro-

gram are used only in reducing the price of the meals to

Clayton D, Hutehins an? Hyrtls geols, 23%5;&;

Government Funds For Eg§§atggg Federal Becurity Agency

Office of ducation, etin Ho, 3, 1950, wnshingten,'

D.C.: United Statee Government Printing Office, 1951), p. 43.
. Ibigd,, p. 4,

6 Ibid., p. 45.
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paying children, in improving the quality of the meals, and
for the purchase and maintenance of supplies, services, and

equipment used in preparing or serving the meals.7

Segregation. A large percentage of the school-age
children in Live Oak County are Latin-imericans. Some of
the school districts have always maintained separate schools
for the Latin-Americans, Lagarto, Dinero, and Toms districte
maintained separate schools until they were consolidated.
George West and Three Rlvers maintalined separate elementary
schools but only one high schoel,

In 1948 the Latin-Americane in Live Qak County pro-
tested againet segregation., Thie protest was backed by the
League of Latin-Ameriean Citizens. A writ of pandapmus was
issued against the state superintendent to enforce the pre~
Vioug decision of the courts that segregetion of Latin-
Americans in Texas was 1llegal, The schools of Live 0Oak
County circumvented this order on the grounds that with overe
crowded conditions of the schools it wae impossible to take
in the Latin-Americans and that both districts were working
to end segregation,

In the spring of 1949 a bond iesue was voted in the
George West district to erect two new buildinge and to re-
model the old. It was not until September, 1950, that the

7 Contract between the National Lunch Program and
George West Independent Distriect No. 3.
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Latin-Anerican school was abolished in the George West dis-
trict.

In Three Rivers in 1948-<49 only the first four grades
were separated, In 1949-50 the lLatin-Americans were given
the cholce of which school they would attend., In 1950-51
only the one elementary school was maintalined.

Thus the past eight years have been a period of pro-
gress and change in the schools of Live QOak County, The
program now ie nearer to the desired quality of education

in Texas.







CHAPTER V

SUMMARY

The development of Live Oak County schools can be

divided into two peficda: the establishment of the schools

and the reorganization of the schools, The establishment
and early development of the schools depended on the state
laws regarding edusation, the physical growth of the county
into areas containing enough population to merit the estab-
lishment of shcool districts, the amount of money available
to the schools, and the quality of the teachers,

The early state school laws were a series of changes
and amendments. They were often contradictory and were
vague in their application., &g a result, educational pro-
greas throughout the state was retarded.

The financlal support of Live Osk County schools was
derived from the state per gaplta apportionments, the county
avallable fund, local taxes, and in the earlier days, tui-
tion charges. The major source of income has been the state
apportionments, This has increased from sixty-two cents in
1856 to sixty dollars in 1950,

Formal teacher preparation was largely non-existent
in the early history of the schools, the first normal school
certificate being regletered in 1888. Thereafter the number

of normal-trained teachers increased yearly. In 1893 the
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state took over the certification of teachers. By 1950 a
large majority of the teachers held college degrees, All
of them had some college training. At least twelve hours
of education in the appropriate level 1s now required of all
teachers in Texas,

As would be expected, not much progress was made in
securing better prepared te2chers until the galariaa had
been increased, The lowest recorded salary was £6.20 per
month for three months taught in 1859. The average monthly
galary was increased from twenty dollars in 1877 to almost
ninety dollars in 1940. The ealaries todav are baged on a
gehedule provided by the state, The salary for a teacher
with a bachelor's degree is $267 per month, for nine months,
with increments for additional teaching experiencé. For a
teacher with a master's degree the base pay is 8292 per
month, for nine months, plus increments,

There are no early records of dividing the county
into districts. 1In 1876 the community system was adopted.
Under thies system schools were established each ysar by
petitions from the citizens of the commurity. If the citi-
zens 414 not petition, no school was established. Thus
the number of achools varled from year to year. Beginning
in 1884 districte were organized on a more nearly permanent
basis by the Commissgioner's Court. The first year nine

districts were organized. A new district was organized in
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1887 and another in 1900. The organization of the dlstricts
remained the same until 1911. In the next five years twenty-
one new districts were created. There were thirty-two die-
tricts in the county. The enrollment increased from 749 to
1449

In 1917 a process of reorganization began which 1in
five years reduced the number of districts to twenty-five.
There were then three independent school districts, two
eonsolidated common school dlstricts, and twenty common
school districts,

In 1923 the district organization took a final spurt
of growth before it settled down into a pattern which lasted
until 1943. From 1922 to 1928 seven new districtes were or-
ganized, As hed been the case in 1916, the county again
had thirty-two districts.

Within eix menthe time, beginning in July, 1943, the
thirty-two districte which had existed since 1928 were re-
duced to ten. Twelve districts were annexed to CGeorge West
Independent District No. 3 and ten to Three Rivers Indepen-
dent District No. 2., 1In 1947 four more dlistricte were con-
golidated with the George West dietrict. Two were annexed
to the Mathis district in San Patriclo County. In 1949 and
1950 three more districts were consolidated with George West,
With these annexations to George Weet and Three Rivers dis-
tricts, Live Oak County is now dlvided into two districts.:
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Through consolidation the schools have secured bet-
ter buildings and equipment than were possible in the com-
munities maintalning one and two-teacher schools. There is
2 wider range of subject matter, commerical subjects, science,
vocational subjects, and more opportunities for participation
in student activities,

School lunch rooms are maintained in both George West
and Three Rivers as part of the National Lunch Program, In
1950 Live Oak County did away with all segregation,

Much progregs has bheen made in edueation in Live Oak
Jounty in the past eight years, but there are still many
issues that must be faced in the near future if that pro~

gress is to continue, Within five years or less both George

Wegt and Three Rivers will fzce a building problem, Three
years ago in George West two first-grade teachers were hlred,
Last year there wvere five first-grade clagses. According

to the census & larpe first-grade enrollment can be expected
for the next several years. As these children grow up gcon-

ditione in the echools will be over-ecrowded. The school

aystéu will have to expand. Thie same condition exists in

Three Rivers,
During the past few years much has been done in Live

Oak County Sehools toward brosdening the curriculum, seocur-

ing hetter equipment, and inereasing the activity progranm,

There 18 one feature, however, that hag been sadly neglected.
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Little progress has been made in the libraries, MNeither
school has a regular librarian. The work is left to
several of the teachers with student assistants, A well-
planned and well-organized library is an egsentiel pert
of every school, and it 1s important to every subject
taught.

Another issue to be met is the condition of the roads
in the county. This is of great concern to the schools. The
Mininmum Foundation Program in education, as set up by the
Gilmer-Aiken Committee, is largely based on the average
daily attendance., As conditions are now, during bad wea-
ther many of the school buses cannot traverse their route.
Each day that the buses do not run the average daily at-
tendance 1s lowered, This lowers the funds received from
the state and the number of teachers that can be employed.

The people of Live Oak County must be made to realize
the importance of a modern, well-organized, well-supervised
educational system, BSome progress has been made in this
respect in the past, or the reorganization of the schools
would never have taken place. There are still many people
in the county, however, who ¢annot see why the "little red
school house" did not serve the educational needs of the
county. Untll they are willing to work with the rest of
the people toward improving the school system, the desgired

progress cannot be made.
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